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Ethel Terry Barham, Eleanor Barham, Ray Ann Cramer, Carole Lowe

Ray Ann Cramer:
Today is May 17, 1979.  This is Ray Ann Cramer and Carole Lowe for Metropolitan Interfaith Association on a Tennessee Committee for the Humanities Grant: The Neighborhood and Public Policy Project.  We are in the Vollentine-Evergreen neighborhood.  


I am going to be interviewing Mrs. Charles Barham, Sr., and Mrs. Charles Barham, Jr.  Mrs. Barham, Sr., was the daughter of – 
Ethel Terry Barham:
R.A. Terry and Margaret Terry.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
R.A. and Margaret Terry.  Mrs. Barham, Jr. – Eleanor Barham – Eleanor Riggins Barham, is going to give us a little background because she has copies of the deeds of the Terry property, and give us the background information on where they came from and what property they owned.  

[0:01:02]

Eleanor Barham:
Well, Ms. Barham gave me this story, that her mother and father came from Holly Springs, Mississippi, about 1876.  They were a young married couple, and they had his father and mother with them.  And they got as far as White Station and they had to camp because they couldn't come on in to the city of Memphis, it was too far for sequin wagons.  And it so happened that that night they were robbed while they were camped where White Station is now.  Then they came on in to Memphis and they rented for the first year that they were here, and then in 1877 Mr. Terry bought a piece of property, and I have the deed, and it's dated the 17th of December, 1877.  And he bought a 20-acre tract, and it would be on the location now of the corner of Avalon, Vollentine, and Evergreen, and go back to Cyprus Creek.  
[0:02:07]

Ethel Terry Barham:
No, it went to Red Bud.  Red Bud was a little bitty ol' lane – cattle lane, you know, and we called it – 
Eleanor Barham:
Is that Brown Avenue now? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Uh-huh.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
It's Brown Avenue now? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
But it was called Red Bud? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Red Bud.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Why was it called Red Bud? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Probably there's so many red buds up in down the thing.  It was just lined with red buds.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
And the cattle went down it? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
It was just a kind of cattle path.  You could drive a buggy down it, or a wagon, but you couldn't anything else.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Isn't that interesting.  Are the red buds still there? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
No, subdivide.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay, continue on. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Oh, well, as the picture that you have is a picture of the original Home Place that was standing when they bought the property, and – 
Ray Ann Cramer:
Have you any idea how long that house had been there? 

[0:03:01]

Ethel Terry Barham:
No, they said it evidentally was built during the war, because the walls were filled with cottonseed, so the insulation.  And they thing the thing was built in the war, and it was a comfortable old house.  
Ray Ann Cramer:
So even when you moved into it – your family moved into it, it had been there?  
Ethel Terry Barham:
Oh, yeah – years and years!  And I got something else to tell you.  There's an old magnolia tree standing by the side of it, and when we left – built a house over there – my mother said when they moved in it was at the same size, as far as she was concerned.  So when we moved in and built a house – new house – we cut the top out of it to keep it from falling on the house.  And he cut out about 10 feet, and that magnolia's still living.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
All right now, which house are you talking about building?  The one that's there now, or this one? 

[0:04:03]

Ethel Terry Barham:
No.  

Eleanor Barham:
No. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
No, no!  The one we built in '27.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Oh, that house, okay.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
___ Ms. Barham, and it's still standing.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Right, we have a picture of that.  Kind of a Dutch cottage look? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm, yeah.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
So when was the old Home Place torn down?  In 1920 – 
Ethel Terry Barham:
'27.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Oh, so it was torn down right at the same time.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
So actually you must have – the family must have added plumbing and all kinds of things to – 
Ethel Terry Barham:
We weren't even in the city, but the city let us come across the line, and we put in water and lights. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
When was that? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
'27.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Oh, you mean you had no – 
Ethel Terry Barham:
No!  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Nothing before 1927?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
We had a golden anniversary and lamplights and whatnot, and draw the water.  No, it's '23.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
1923? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
I think it – 
Eleanor Barham:
When did they take your side of the street into the city? 

[0:04:59]

Ethel Terry Barham:
Oh, Lord, I nearly thought about '38 or '40, but they let us bring because we were so close to the street there, with the new house, that we knew some folks at Memphis Power and Light and different ones, and worked in the civic club.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
What civic club?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Jackson Avenue Civic Club.  So they let us bring the water across, and then they made us pay for a pole up from what we call Evergreen.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay.  ___ Avenue Civic Club.  How and when did it get started? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
See, we had a – don't tape this.  A privy in the back, and had developed a playground for us.  

Eleanor Barham:
That's out at the school she's talking about. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Behind the school.  ___ hadn't gotten to the school. 
Ray Ann Cramer:
Well, what school?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Vollentine.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Oh, all right. 

[0:05:59]

Eleanor Barham:
Ms. Barham sold the city the land to build Vollentine School, that was part of the pastureland, and she sold them the land to build the school.  And then the Memphis Park Commission had a playground in the back yard, or we would say, "In the back of the school," and, of course, each summer – they don't do it as much now as they did in those days – but each summer they had the young people who came and had the playground open all summer for all the children.  And the civic club had something to do with that, I'm sure, and getting it there.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
All right, now is that when the civic club got started? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah, and the school was opened, and – 
Ray Ann Cramer:
When was that?  What year?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
You gonna get on the school? 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Yeah.  

Eleanor Barham:
When was it opened? 

Ray Ann Cramer:
When was the school opened? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Let me see – I was president in – '31. 
Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay, so Vollentine was built around '31? 

[0:06:58]

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
And is that when the civic club started?  Or did it start before it? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah, they started soon after that.  It was so active with the young people, that subdivision began to build up in front of us, but we didn't own that, and they ever – 
Ray Ann Cramer:
Who was developing that? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
I don't know.  I don't know.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
It was being built – 
Eleanor Barham:
Who built Ms. Clayton's house?  Do you know who built those? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
I don't know.  I don't know that.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
All right, so what area did the Jackson Avenue Civic Club include? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
From Jackson back to the creek – Red Bud. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Is that Cypress Creek? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah. 
And then it took in a territory up to Watkins.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
And how far east did it go? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Well, all the way over to University.  
Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay, and it was an active civic club for how long, would you say? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
I would say it was probably ___.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
So when was that – about? 

[0:08:04]

Ethel Terry Barham:
When did they – 
Eleanor Barham:
Did it go through World War II?  It had already disbanded before World War II – hadn't it?  Was the civic club still in existence in World War II?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Let me see.  Charles done died in '53 – 
Eleanor Barham:
Yeah. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Well, I used the civic club for pallbearers, so it was pretty active. 

Eleanor Barham:
It was still in existence then. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Since '53.  

Eleanor Barham:
Um-hm. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Uh-huh.  Yeah.  I might ___ '53, because I'll tell ya, people who die – begin to die off, they got old.  That's all I know.  
Ray Ann Cramer:
Can you give me the names of some of the early members of the civic club who helped start it – the leaders?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Henry Clayton, Dr. King.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Dr. King?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
What kind of doctor was he? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Foot doctor.  Mr. Clayton, I named him. 

[0:08:57]

Ray Ann Cramer:
What did he do? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
He was Metropolitan Life.  He's the one that was so active in everything.  Then there was a Mr. Thomas – Harry Thomas.  Mr. Rines.  Now that's all the big ones I can tell you right off, all three of 'em, 'cause they were politicians and different things.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Was your husband ever president of it? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
No.  I don't know, I've forgotten.  I was president of Vollentine School a few years, but I don't – 
Eleanor Barham:
The PTA.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
PTA.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Huh, well that's marvelous.  All right, well, let's get back to our deeds here, and then we'll come back.  

Eleanor Barham:
Oh, well, I do have all the tax receipts on the property from the time Mr. Terry purchased it until 1900.  And then we pick it back up when Ms. Barham, her husband, became owners of the property, and then they started paying the taxes.  So we have a little – 
[0:09:55]

Ray Ann Cramer:
And that was when? 

Eleanor Barham:
span in there from 1900 to 1930, I guess, when we don't have the tax receipts, but I do have a couple of receipts here where Mr. Terry was charged for back taxes on the property that the people who owned it prior to him did not pay, and one went back to the year of 1865, so you know the house was in existence then. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Who owned it before Mr. Terry? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
The people – 
Eleanor Barham:
The ___ Mr. Payne – Jim Payne.  He bought it from Jim Payne.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Do you know anything about Jim Payne? 

Eleanor Barham:
He lived down there behind us, that's all I know. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Oh, he still lived behind you after you bought the place? 

Eleanor Barham:
After my daddy bought it, yeah.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
And what did Mr. Payne do?  Did he have a dairy there? 

Eleanor Barham:
Boy, you sure are getting in infancy.  
Ethel Terry Barham:
Uh-huh. 

Eleanor Barham:
No, he didn't have a dairy.  I don't know what he did, farmed I guess.  
Ray Ann Cramer:
Just farmed. 

Eleanor Barham:
He had 20 or 30 acres back there on the creek bank.  

[0:10:57]

Ray Ann Cramer:
Do you know where he came from? 

Eleanor Barham:
They were there – it's J.W. Payne, I believe. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Payne? 

Eleanor Barham:
P-A – it's spelled both ways.  P-A-I-N and P-A-Y-N-E.  It's whoever the court clerk was, and you will find that they will sign the same name three or four different spellings on documents.  P-A-I-N-E seems to be the popular, and it's J. N., I do believe, instead of J.W.  His wife's name was Susan, which would give you a little help there. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Right, so it's a J.N. as in "no." 

Eleanor Barham:
P-A-I-N-E.  
Ray Ann Cramer:
And Susan.  

Eleanor Barham:
And I believe her name is Susan.  I'll have to check through here for you and find where she signed her release. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay, so the first tax thing you have – back taxes then would be about 1865?  

[0:11:58]

Eleanor Barham:
No, that's where they went back and picked up on him and made him pay to back taxes.  His starts with 1878, because he purchased it in '77.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Right.  So we know that original house was there, though, in '65? 

Eleanor Barham:
Yes.  The house was standing – 
Ray Ann Cramer:
You have nothing earlier than that?  

Eleanor Barham:
No, not any records that we have, at all.  Like I say, it's Robert Allen Terry is his name, and he and his wife came from Holly Springs as a young married couple, and all of their children were born in that house that you have the picture of. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
No doctor either.  

Eleanor Barham:
And Ms. Barham is the last of nine children.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Oh!  

Eleanor Barham:
So her recollections are part of hearsay, but she's pretty good with it, 'cause during genealogy I checked back on her.  So she does have real good recollection about what was going on and who was there.  

[0:12:59]

Ray Ann Cramer:
All right, well now after you parents – let's get back to your parents and when they came.  Did they start out with a dairy then, or farming?  How did the dairy get started? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
They had a barn, I don't know.  I don't know how it got started, but he had a very big barn down there and whether he built that barn, I don't know – for cattle.  And he ran a dairy, I guess, for maybe 30 years, 'cause his kids were – the younger brother ran the dairy with him – helped him.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Your brothers also help in the dairy? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Well, of course, they had to, that's all there was to do, get out there and go to work. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
How long was the dairy in existence, and did it have a name? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Chestnut Grove Dairy. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Chestnut Grove. 

[0:13:56]

Ethel Terry Barham:
That's what his name – see, my daddy also planted chestnut trees all over the place.  They were very popular in those days, and right there, and they named the dairy Chestnut Grove.  So when we came back, Daddy told me to come on back when after I married, and build up the place, that he would give us a home place if I'd take care of him and mamma.  So we went back in '23, and we started, and he built a new barn and tore down the old barn.  And start his dairy and he called it Chestnut Grove.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Chestnut Grove. 

Eleanor Barham:
Now that was Mr. Barr called is Chestnut Grove.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
So did the dairy continue on through all those years? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
It continued on till we was taken in the city.  And we heard that some man was in the civic club was complaining.  So we sold cattle. 
[0:14:58]

Ray Ann Cramer:
All right, now when were you taken into the city?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
I imagine it was about '38.  See that Vollentine ___  line, as long as I can remember, and that was a little old dust trail.  Wagons and horses and things, and cattle went up and down the thing, but we got out there barefooted, and make pictures in the dust.  
Ray Ann Cramer:
Do you remember when it was paved? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
When was WPA? 
Eleanor Barham:
Oh, that was in '33.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Well, it was gravel before I remember, and now I can't even remember when it was gravel.  But when it was paved I think it was paved during the depression, and then there were blacktop.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
But then it came into the city after that, so it was obviously paved before it came into the city.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
I couldn't swear to that.  

[0:16:00]

Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay, well, we can probably look that up, and find that out.  Okay, well, tell me some other things you can remember about the dairy.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Well, I don't remember much about his dairy at all, because he retired – he rented the house out to a bunch of Wilsons for two or three years, and they were tearing it up so he ran low – they weren't running the dairy, I don't know what they were doing.  And then they moved back there. 
Ray Ann Cramer:
All right, now what – in other words, he ran the dairy, but was his dairy called Chestnut Grove also? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
No, Wilson didn't have a dairy.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
No, but I'm saying your father. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Oh, yeah.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
His was called Chestnut Grove also? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Because he planted trees.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay.  And then he stopped with the dairy for a while, and rented the house. 

[0:17:00]

Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah, rented the house. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
All right, but what happened to the cattle, had he sold them by then? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah, I think so. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Oh, so there was no dairy there from when to when? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
That I know of – no. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
So when did his dairy stop – your father's? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
I don't know, I wasn't even born.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Oh, you mean the dairy – 
Eleanor Barham:
She was born in 1892.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Uh-huh. 

Eleanor Barham:
She's the youngest of the nine children.  So I gather from what she's saying – where you living when they moved out of the house on Vollentine and moved up to the other house while the Wilsons had it? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
I was a baby. 

Eleanor Barham:
You were a baby.  So that would be 1892-93 when they did that. 
Ray Ann Cramer:
Oh, so they had the dairy before then, and then they stopped it.  

Eleanor Barham:
Her daddy has a dairy there, and how large a dairy I don't know.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Probably about 100 cattle.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
A hundred cattle? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
All right, this is before you were born? 

[0:17:56]

Eleanor Barham:
And that's a large dairy for that day.  
Ethel Terry Barham:
Oh, yeah! 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay, and then you moved away.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Where did you move? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Well, in the meantime his daddy was a carpenter.  

Eleanor Barham:
This is R.A. Terry's father.  Robert Terry's father.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
'Cause he came in from Holly Springs with him – he and my grandmother.  And he was a carpenter.  So after he had bought all the land he had, he put a little house – and I think you asked me something about the 10-acre block – he put a little house on 10-acres.  Then he put a – dug a well and put a little John and a barn for every tenant, and you know what he rented them for?  $8.00 a month!  

Ray Ann Cramer:
And these were the 10-acre lots?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
And he thought he was going retire.  Well, he found out that rent wasn't coming in like it ought to, so he had to go back, but he never did go back in the dairy business.  

[0:19:01]

Ray Ann Cramer:
Oh, so there wasn't a dairy there, again, until your husband did it? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm, yeah. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Oh, so you had all those years, it's like 30 some odd years there was no dairy. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah, but he was farming the place, and everything.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
What did he farm? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Cotton and tomatoes.  

Eleanor Barham:
And chestnuts.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah, chestnuts.  The kids ate the chestnuts and stole them.  

Carole Lowe:
Are the chestnut trees still there?  

Eleanor Barham:
No.  When we moved away seven years ago there was one, but it was very old and not doing well at all.  So we would assume by now it has died and passed on to it's great beyond. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Now who did you sell the house to seven years ago? 

Eleanor Barham:
Earl Gregory.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
A neighbor.  

[0:19:51]

Eleanor Barham:
A colored gentleman, and he was with Aladex, which we've heard since has gone out of business.  But he had a wife and two young little girls, and Mr. Gregory was very impressed with purchasing the property, and came in one day and said he did not know that he was purchasing a landmark, which startled us, we didn't know what he was talking about.  And he had gone and checked the deed and gone and run the whole deed back, and he thought that he'd bought a landmark because Mr. Terry had purchase the land in 1877 and it had been in the family ever since.  So it was almost 100 years that the family had lived on that one piece of property.  Now that was the original purchase that was sold when we moved. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
All right, now how much land was around that original purchase that – 
Eleanor Barham:
Twenty acres.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
All right, and how much land did Mr. Gregory buy? 

[0:21:02]

Eleanor Barham:
About an acre. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
One acre, with the house on it.  

Eleanor Barham:
Because that was Mr. Barham, after they made him do away with the dairy, they had all that property around there.  So they sold off a section to build Vollentine school, and then – well, the dairy was still there when they built Vollentine school, wasn't it? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah. 

Eleanor Barham:
Then when they made him dispense with the dairy, as they took that side of the street into the city, then he made a subdivision.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Terry Circle. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Terry Circle?  And when was Terry Circle subdivided?  What year? 

Eleanor Barham:
Well, they started the work, I think, about 1940 on the circle.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Now who built the homes?  

Eleanor Barham:
Oh, we sold it to different ones; DeLuggage and Goodman bought different lots.  And then he built all of the houses on the front there.  Mr. Barham built those, on the front of Vollentine.  
[0:21:58]

Ray Ann Cramer:
All right, Mr. Barham built the houses facing Vollentine, and different builders built the other – 
Eleanor Barham:
Bought the lots in the circle.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
All right, so it wasn't individual people buying lots and having houses built, they were built – 
Eleanor Barham:
Well, there was a few.  Mr. Wyble bought – and he's still living.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Mister who?  

Eleanor Barham:
Mr. Wyble.  
Ray Ann Cramer:
W-E-I-B-L-E/? 

Eleanor Barham:
W-Y-B-L-E.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
W-Y-B-L-E?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
W-I-B-L-E.  

Eleanor Barham:
I don't know, he's a stockbroker.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
W-I – oh, Bill Wyble?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Yes!  

Eleanor Barham:
Uh-huh, Bill Wyble.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
He bought along the lots.  He burn a little pie thing so that you have roses in the back.  He had beautiful roses.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
I bet he still does.  He still lives there? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
I know he does.  He's moved down to Skyway.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Oh, so he sold his house? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah.  He had to, the niggers moved in on us.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Is that all black now?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Oh, yeah.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
All of it? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
That and Vollentine – 
Eleanor Barham:
No, he's still there.   Ms. Drake's still there.  

[0:22:57]

Ethel Terry Barham:
Well, she couldn't sell. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
He, who?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Pete – Pete Kolopanas. 

Eleanor Barham:
He lives in the house that's directly west of the Vollentine – 1634, he's the first house directly west.  He's Pete Kolopanas.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Now did he build – would you spell that name? 

Eleanor Barham:
No – no.  K-O-L-O-P-A-N-A-S.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay.  Our typist will have a fit.  

Eleanor Barham:
He has a restaurant down in the stockyard.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
What kind of restaurant, do you happen to know?  

Eleanor Barham:
Just a restaurant – restaurant.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
To feed the dairymen.  

Eleanor Barham:
It's in the stockyard.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Where at the stockyard? 

Eleanor Barham:
Down on Riverside.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
She don't know a thing about Memphis.  

Eleanor Barham:
No, the young don't.  It's down on Riverside – down toward Riverside Park, down that way. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay.  

Eleanor Barham:
And Peter's still there, and Mrs. Drake, whose husband was a partner in the Drake Cleaners that's there on Evergreen.  She still lives there. 
Ray Ann Cramer:
Do they still have the cleaners? 

[0:23:56]

Ethel Terry Barham:
The Drakes do.  

Eleanor Barham:
Oh, Mr. Drake is passed away, so the family, I think, still runs it, but not their part of the family, his brothers.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
And those people were the original builders and owners of their house? 

Eleanor Barham:
No, no, they weren't the originals.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Oh!  

Eleanor Barham:
No.  Was Miss – who was the original person that lived in the house next door to you where Pete is?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Dr. Ayers.  Young Dr. Ayers.  

Eleanor Barham:
Dr. Richard Ayers?  Where Pete is, or on the other side? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
No, the other side of Pete's.  

Eleanor Barham:
The other side, on the east side.  Dr. Richard Ayers.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Is that A-Y – 
Eleanor Barham:
That's A-Y-E-R-S.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
_____.  
Eleanor Barham:
Isn't he?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
I don't know.  

Eleanor Barham:
Well, now he's the Dr. Ayers that's out at the Shelby County Hospital.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
He was. 

Eleanor Barham:
We don't know if he's still there, but that's the Ayers.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
That's the Ayers. 

Eleanor Barham:
His father was a doctor, and they're from up here on Union, right past Cook Street.  But he was the original buyer on that one – Debardeleben's were original buyers. 

[0:25:02]

Ray Ann Cramer:
The who? 

Eleanor Barham:
Don't ask me to spell that one.  Debardeleben.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Oh, try!  

Eleanor Barham:
Yeah, well I can get the telephone book for you.  They originally purchased the house from Mr. Barham, and it was the first house next to the school.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay, spell the name.  

Eleanor Barham:
Oh, in here.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay. 

Eleanor Barham:
I've got to get where I can see it.  D-E-B-A-R-D-E-L-E-B-E-N. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay. 

Eleanor Barham:
Debardeleben, is how they tell it.  Debardeleben.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
And they were one of the original – 
Eleanor Barham:
They were one of the original purchasers in the circle – I mean, in the subdivision.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
That's Terry Circle. 

Eleanor Barham:
How about your brother Oscar?  Was he an original purchaser and builder?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm, he built – 
Eleanor Barham:
Her brother, Oscar Terry, and he was down on Terry Circle.  He was one of the original lot owners and builders. 

[0:25:59]

Ray Ann Cramer:
All right, now jumping back – 
Eleanor Barham:
But Wilson Mount was also an original – was he?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
I think – I don't know whether he built it, he might have bought the house.  

Eleanor Barham:
Wilson Mount was with the city – Public Schools – as music teacher.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay. 

Eleanor Barham:
Many people know about him. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay, I have another question jumping back.  All right, that was the developing of Terry Circle, which was built by your husband.  But the 10-acre lots, now you've talked about the original 20 acres that your father bought, but then he had to have bought more acres through the years. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
He did, and give me a – I don't know how to tell you, but it went down to Red Bud, clear to what we call the Bluff, that ran into Brookdale.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
All right, the bluff of what, the creek? 

[0:26:51]

Ethel Terry Barham:
Cypress Creek Bluff.  And it turned now at Barksdale, and went to Vollentine.  Then he came back and hit a Plain and came up to Jackson – well Raul Road, and then he went down to what they call "Hill," but we call it Evergreen now.  And went north and took in the Home Place up on Vollentine.  
Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
And it was 105 acres all together. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
All right, when did he get the other acreage? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
He had bought it when – little by little – nibbled at it.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
So through the years. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah, through the years he bought it. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
And you must have that listed on deeds somewhere – each purchase? 

Eleanor Barham:
Well, I don't know if I have all of those, but I do have his '77 and his one on '79, and another one on '79.  I have – 
Ethel Terry Barham:
I don't know – 
Ray Ann Cramer:
So he made two purchases in 1879, and then the original one in 1877?  

[0:27:57]

Eleanor Barham:
I can look these over and read them (I have not done that) and see if that's what it is.  
Ray Ann Cramer:
All right. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Now I know that Jackson Avenue was bought last, but I don't know when.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
All right, well, we'll let her search through that.  All right, so when he moved off the Home Place for that short period of time, that's when he developed the 10-acre lots?  
Ethel Terry Barham:
Well, my granddad has already started building, and I guess he had all those things developed, because he thought was going to live on rent.  And that – 
Ray Ann Cramer:
All right, now that was not – okay, that was not your father who was the dairyman?  That was your grandfather? 

Eleanor Barham:
No. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
No, it's my father.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Oh, okay. 

Eleanor Barham:
Her father was – Robert A. was the dairyman, and his father is James, and they called him Jim Terry. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
All right, now Jim Terry was the land developer?   Okay.  

Eleanor Barham:
Well, he was the carpenter, he just built the houses, Robert bought the land, and his father built the houses.  

[0:28:59]

Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay.  All right, I think I've got that straight now.  And so the houses he was building, though, were on the 10-acres, so they could also farm.  Now do you know where that land was?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
____ and the golf course, is where those houses were.  
Ray Ann Cramer:
All right, when did the houses go to become the golf course? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
I guess you'd have to ask Charles and Bob about that.  I imagine – when did that golf course break up?  About the time all the city taxes went up on us, and my brother was fallen heir to that golf course, so he thought he better put in a golf course to collect rent on – I mean, to work out taxes.  So he put it into a little golf course, just nine holes.  
[0:29:55]

Ray Ann Cramer:
All right.  So the land was not really being used until the golf course was put on it, except for the houses that have been built?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
All right, and they owned all those houses.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
What were they, just little houses you torn down for the golf course? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm.  Three rooms and a little kitchen on the end of the porch – on the porch.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Who were they being rented to, tenant farmers? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Mostly the kinfolks.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Oh, the kinfolks.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Well, Pete's and – well, and no reason to go into that – quick, don't tape that.  

Eleanor Barham:
Yeah.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
'Cause I'm – 
Eleanor Barham:
____ who lived in the 10-acre places?  That's what they want to know.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Yeah.  

Eleanor Barham:
Who lived in those places? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
I can't remember all those things. 

Eleanor Barham:
Well, who were the Pinkston's?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Pinkston's were the first one on the claim in Jackson.  

Eleanor Barham:
Which Pinkston was that, Matt? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Matt.  

Eleanor Barham:
Matt Pinkston. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
And he came up here from Potts Camp, and I don't know what he did.  Oh, I don't know who was next – was Ms. Alice, a widow with five children.  Now let's see, I don't know who – 
[0:31:05]

Ray Ann Cramer:
Did she come from Mississippi?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
___ mother?  

Eleanor Barham:
No.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
That's Dr. Healey's mother.  Sister married Hugh Ellis, her son.  
Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Now the third house, I can't even remember the name, but I do remember Mr. Ross was the fourth house, and he had a collar shop.  I mean – 
Eleanor Barham:
Horse collar? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
well – 
Ray Ann Cramer:
Bridles? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
No.  Just bridles and – oh, I don't know.  

Eleanor Barham:
A saddle shop? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Saddle shop!  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
He made me nervous, and then he had a – listen, you haven't got half of it.  Then after he had the cattle – I mean, the shop, he had a blacksmith shop, and Mr. McClung ran that.  

[0:32:02]

Ray Ann Cramer:
How do you spell McClung? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
M-C-C-L-U-N-G.  Mr. McClung. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
And did he live on the property? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah, he lived in a little house down there behind.  Then came the big store, Crump Brothers, that my uncle and his two boys ran.  And there was a little – 
Ray Ann Cramer:
All right, now who was your uncle, Mr. who Crump? 
Ethel Terry Barham:
Jack Crump. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
And he came from Mississippi, too? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah, Holly Springs.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay. 

Eleanor Barham:
He was married to Mrs. Barham's sister' – mother's sister.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
All right, Mrs. Barham's mother's sister.  Okay.  And, all right, how many other Crumps came besides Jack? 
Ethel Terry Barham:
His family, which was four boys.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
So four brothers.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
There was Claude – 
Eleanor Barham:
No, these were Jack Crump's children.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
That's what she said.  

[0:32:56]

Ray Ann Cramer:
Oh, I thought they were his brothers. 

Eleanor Barham:
No, they're Jack Crump's children.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Oh. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
No, they're Jack Crump's – he had a family. 

Eleanor Barham:
Their mother's name was Missouri Tennessee.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Missouri Tennessee Crump –  

Eleanor Barham:
Uh-huh. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
was married to Jack?  

Eleanor Barham:
That's right. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
All right, there were no other brothers then, just their children? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
That's what they came up here with, four children and Mr. and Mrs. Crump.  
Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Of course, they were first cousins. 

Eleanor Barham:
Did any of Jack Crump's brothers come up? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Not that I know of. 

Eleanor Barham:
Did the Russoms come up? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
The Henderson's came up – his sister came up, but that was later days she moved over.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
All right, now his sister was a Henderson, but not who were the Russoms?  

Eleanor Barham:
Ms. Barham's mother was a Baggett, and – 
Ray Ann Cramer:
Please spell the names. 

Eleanor Barham:
B-A-G-G-E-T-T.  And they also where from Holly Springs.  And she had a sister, Elizabeth, who married Herb Pinkston – who Matt Pinkston – that she's referred to – had come up.  He's a child of theirs.  Then she had a sister named Sarah who married Isaac Rice.  They also ended up over on Chelsey.
[0:34:12]

Ethel Terry Barham:
No, it's Jackson. 

Eleanor Barham:
On Jackson?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm. 

Eleanor Barham:
They came up to Jackson, then Martha Ann Baggett married Mandy Russom.  They eventually came up – 
Ray Ann Cramer:
R-U-F-F – 
Eleanor Barham:
R-U-S-S-O-M.  No, they didn't come up. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
No "u" at the end? 

Eleanor Barham:
R-U-S-S-O-M.  Russom.  They stayed in Holly Springs. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay.  All right.  Well now about how many people from Holly Springs came up to where you all where, would you think? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
All those kinfolks, 'cause Cousin Ida lived and then Carla ___ a house. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Cousin Ida who?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Rice.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Oh, okay. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
She was a niece of mama's you see.  

[0:34:57]

Eleanor Barham:
She was the daughter of Isaac Barham.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Now what else? 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay, so you have maybe 20 people from Holly Springs came up? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Well, eventually they all drove up here because my daddy hit the nail on the head, and they went into the dairy business, and he was getting rich.  And everybody else – 
Eleanor Barham:
They thought.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
They thought.  They didn't think it took hard work, to get up early and work, but then that's about all, they just came on up because they thought he was doing so well. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
So he put them all to work on the dairy farm?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
No ___.  No kids is all.  They find some hired help – he had some hired help to do the dirty work, I guess.  
Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay, so they came up and some of them rented those 10-acre plots and just farmed –  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
and did other things. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
And some of them ran little dairies – the Pinkstons ran dairy up and down that little 10 acres of his.  

[0:35:54]

Ray Ann Cramer:
What was their dairy called?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
I don't know.  I couldn't tell you.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
'Cause we found that there were a number of dairies in the area.

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Was there a – 
Ethel Terry Barham:
And then Mr. Ray lived on the back off of Rose Bud – what we call Red Bud, and he had a dairy down there. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Who was that? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Mr. Nez Ray.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
R-H-E-A?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Unh-unh, R-A-Y.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
R-A-Y.  Now who were they? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
I don't know.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Just came up?  

Eleanor Barham:
They just came up.  Rather they were just there. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
They were there, yeah.  Her mother and Mr. Henderson had moved over on the south end of town, over about ___.  That was years and years ago, and way out in the country. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
What about the Briggs, did they have a dairy? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
He and the Briggs' up that – University now.  Yeah, they had a big dairy.  Tommy and Harry, and all that gang, we all grew up in the neighborhood together.  
Ray Ann Cramer:
Where did you all go to school? 

[0:36:57]

Ethel Terry Barham:
Terry Town.  Papa built a school for us.  We had Terry Town School.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Where was that? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Down on the corner of McLean and Vollentine.  I went to school out in the – 
Eleanor Barham:
Which corner was it on, grandma?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
East.  

Eleanor Barham:
Northeast?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm. 

Eleanor Barham:
Northeast corner of Main and Vollentine is where Terry Town School was.  Who was the schoolteacher? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
That's Ida Willis and her sister, and Ms. Suzy Brown.  They say it was a first – Suzy Brown.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
What grades did the school have? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Up to the seventh, and one teacher.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Now when did the school close? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Well, I left over there when I was in the – wait a minute – I left that when I went into seventh grade over at Guthrie – no, I couldn't tell you.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
All right, so after seventh grade then you went to Guthrie School?  

[0:38:00]

Ethel Terry Barham:
It's Guthrie now; it was Prescott in those days.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
All right, the original Prescott school.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm.  Yeah, ___ Prescott.  
Eleanor Barham:
Did Mabel teach over there? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
She taught music in the city schools.  

Eleanor Barham:
At Prescott? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm. 

Eleanor Barham:
When you were going to school there? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm.  

Eleanor Barham:
That's her sister, Mabel.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
My sister, Mabel. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Mabel Terry. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Mabel Terry.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
All right, well now where did you go to high school? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Messick.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Oh my goodness! 

Eleanor Barham:
Tell 'em how you got there. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
We were in the county, and I didn't want to go to city school 'cause my boyfriend was going to Central High, and my brother persuade papa to let me go on over to Messick. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Messick – well, Messick was pretty far away.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Well, I board over there Monday to Friday evening. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Who did you board with? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Ms. Gilliland.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Gilliland? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Mrs. who Gilliland?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
I don't know.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
My goodness, that was – 
Carole Lowe:
How did you get back and forth to school?  
[0:38:58]

Ethel Terry Barham:
My daddy carried me over to McLean Avenue and Madison to catch the car that went out to Buntyn.  

Carole Lowe:
Is that a streetcar?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah.  And on Friday he'd meet me there and take me home in the buggy.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
That's marvelous!  

Eleanor Barham:
How close did the streetcar come to you, though – the first street car that came from town, how close was it to Buntyn?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Jackson. 

Eleanor Barham:
Jackson and what?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Well, it stopped at that Jackson and Breedlove at first, then it was extended to Jackson and Watkins.  And then it was run on out later on.  
Eleanor Barham:
All the way to Raleigh then? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
No, it didn't go to Raleigh.  Raleigh went through Poplar.  

Eleanor Barham:
Oh!  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Remember the old saying, "No stops on Poplar"?  

Eleanor Barham:
No, I don't remember that.  You used to get – and you told me you used to get in the buggy and go and meet everybody when they got off the streetcar at Breedlove and Jackson.  How old were you when you were doing that?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Oh, about six-years-old.  

Eleanor Barham:
About how old? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Six or seven-years-old.  

Eleanor Barham:
You were doing that, going and getting 'em in the buggy? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Well, sure!  Sure, all you gotta to do is let the horse go out and ___ guided it.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Probably knew the way by heart. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Sure.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
I have some more questions to ask you about your cousins, the Crumps.  What kind of store did they have, and where was it? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Well, I told you, see you never have gotten the boundaries.  I can't tell you anything because they were there, and then there was a house here on – let's see.  The Crumps had just a miscellaneous store. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Just a general – 
Ethel Terry Barham:
General store, and that's what they called it.  They had feed.  They had everything that you could buy to eat.  

[0:40:57]

Ray Ann Cramer:
Now what year was that store started?  Do you – 
Ethel Terry Barham:
Oh, Lord!  I don't know. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Early, when you were little? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Before I was born.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Oh, so they came up just after your – 
Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah, just after mama and papa.  And papa built the store for them.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
I see.  

Eleanor Barham:
When did they move it further out on Jackson? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
1910.  That's when they began to develop the – what you call it – the – 
Eleanor Barham:
Oh, the street – Jackson Street was being developed then.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
No, that was when we all took a notice to start that Trubb division.  From Evergreen to McLean.  

Eleanor Barham:
And the Crump brothers moved then from that location to the beginning of the viaduct on Jackson – as you go over the viaduct just past Hollywood.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay, now – 
Eleanor Barham:
The Crump Brothers building is still standing there, I think it's a nursery now. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Nursery.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
All right now – but where was the original store?  I haven't figured out where that is yet. 

[0:41:58]

Eleanor Barham:
It was on the corner of Jackson and what?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
It wasn't a corner.  

Eleanor Barham:
Oh, it was in the middle of the block between Evergreen and McLean? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah, yeah.  What's this?  

Eleanor Barham:
That's Jackson.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
And this is Evergreen. 

Eleanor Barham:
Uh-huh. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Okay, well this was Cousin Ida's house right here.  Then there's the store came in here, and they gave quite a bit of acreage to the store.  That's where the store was, it wasn't on a corner. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
All right, so the store was on the north side of Jackson, just east from the corner where cousin – 
Eleanor Barham:
Just west.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
No, the east going – 
Ray Ann Cramer:
East of Evergreen.  East of Evergreen.  

Eleanor Barham:
You're going out is east. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Oh, you're going out. 

Eleanor Barham:
Yeah, it's east.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Right, it's east of Evergreen, okay. 

Eleanor Barham:
Well, did the Crumps live in the store?  Or next to it? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
No, they had a little house there in the back. 

Eleanor Barham:
In the back of the store.  Well, who lived next door to the store? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Cousin Ida.  

Eleanor Barham:
No, the other way, going on out.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
That's where the shop was. 

[0:43:00]

Eleanor Barham:
Oh, that's where Mister – 
Ethel Terry Barham:
McClumb lived.  

Eleanor Barham:
At his shop?  ___ Jackson.  In other words, his address was Jackson?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm.  ___.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Ever subdivide any land and build houses?  There's a Crump Avenue in there.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah, they owned the – I don't know how many acres – in front of the store, and he developed Crump Avenue down there, because they joined what was – no, I guess he just named it after Ed Crump, and they weren't any bit of kin.  
Eleanor Barham:
It was Ed Crump it was named for, not Jack Crump. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Oh, it wasn't named for – 
Ethel Terry Barham:
No, it was named for Ed Crump, the mayor.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Right, right.  Okay, well, we weren't sure.  We knew that the Crumps that lived there were not kin to the mayor.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
And they both came from Holly Springs, and still they claimed that they are no kin.  There was Daphne and Ed.  And the other one was Jack – I don't know the rest of the Crump – 
[0:44:05]

Ray Ann Cramer:
And none of them were related? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
They said they weren't related. 

Eleanor Barham:
We haven't worked the genealogy on it – we don't know.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
I think Gladys has ___.  
Ray Ann Cramer:
All right, so well then did Jack develop that street that's named after – 
Ethel Terry Barham:
No, his two boys – Crump brothers.  His daddy finally retired and let the two boys have the store. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
All right, now who were the two boys? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Claude and Will. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Will Crump went out on Jackson Avenue, and Claude Crump went out on Lamar.  And Claude Crump's family's running that Crump Lime and Cement Company on Lamar.  
Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
And one of the in-laws was running the florist – yeah – nursery out there at the Will Crump place.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay, so that's still in the family then?  What was the store is now a nursery? 

[0:45:02]

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Oh, I see.  Okay.  But what about that property – that street – the subdivision of Crump Avenue, was that done by any of the Crumps?  Or was it – 
Ethel Terry Barham:
No it was the boys.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Oh, they developed that street?  That was – 
Ethel Terry Barham:
The boys developed it. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
About when? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Oh, Lord, I haven't got any dates in my head. 

Eleanor Barham:
Is that about the time you all sold the land to the Gulf filling station?  Is that about when it was?  Was it that late, or was it earlier that they developed it?  Or about the same time Uncle Will was developing grandpa's property?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
No it was developed before then.  

Eleanor Barham:
The Crump boys developed theirs before Will did? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
___ about 1908, somewhere in that neighborhood, I don't know.  But it was developed quite a while back.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
I was gonna say, the houses on Crump Avenue look really old.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm.  Yeah. 

Eleanor Barham:
Um-hm.  Well they're clapboard and wood construction, so that sort of will tell you which ones are the older ones.  

[0:46:06]

Ethel Terry Barham:
I don't think there's very many of them left. 

Eleanor Barham:
I doubt it.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
The church has bought quite a few of them. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Which church? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
McLean Baptist Church.  That's on the corner.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Right, now did they buy the land – or existing houses and tear them down to build that church? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Well, no I think it was a vacant lot that Ellis bought and built the church.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Who bought it? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Dr. Ellis.   He was a Baptist minister, and he started that church in the neighborhood.  
Ray Ann Cramer:
But he didn't buy it from your family? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
No, not the Crump family, no.  I don't know who he got that from.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay, but, well, the Crump family did, though, divide that street originally? 

[0:46:59]

Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay, do you know who built the houses?  Did they build the houses and sell them, or did they just sell it off? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
What does she think I've got?  

Eleanor Barham:
Well, she just thought maybe you could tell her.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
No, I don't know.  I think most of the lots they just sold individually.  I'm not sure.  
Ray Ann Cramer:
[Gap] about what it was like through the years, and how it changed.  For instance, when you were growing up, it was dusty, you said. 
Ethel Terry Barham:
Everything – McLean was such a bad avenue we could not have get through it in a buggy or wagon.  The holes, and it rained, and it didn't have a drain, of course, we had no sewers.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Well, do you remember when all that started coming in? 

Eleanor Barham:
The sewers and everything.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Yeah. 

Eleanor Barham:
When did they start putting in that? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Oh, Lord, the city – 
Eleanor Barham:
Would that be WTA?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
I think it was about that time.  WTA began to work, and extend.  We didn't have any mail carrier or anything.  We had to go up on Jackson to get our mail, then they finally brought some – 
[0:48:08]

Ray Ann Cramer:
Where did you go get your mail on Jackson?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Camp's Grocery at 434 Jackson Avenue.  That was my address and I was in University of Tennessee.  
Ray Ann Cramer:
Oh, that's marvelous!  

Ethel Terry Barham:
And that was in '12. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
1912.  Okay, well now see, that's something no one could have told us, that you had to get your mail there.  What else can you tell us like that? 
Ethel Terry Barham:
She might have some letterheads addressed to – 
Eleanor Barham:
No. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
What is that – Laura Hanson address?  I think it was – 
Ray Ann Cramer:
Who ran Camps Grocery Store?   Yeah, who ran the – 
Ethel Terry Barham:
Old Mr. Camp, and his sons.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Then he was near you?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
No, he ended up down Jackson Avenue.  

Eleanor Barham:
This is '34, and it's 1634 Vollentine.  So in 1934 you were getting your mail at the house.  

[0:49:01]

Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah. 

Eleanor Barham:
That's '34, though, that's not '12.  When were you off at UT, at '12 – 1912?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm. 

Eleanor Barham:
Well, that's quite a bit of difference in time there.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah. 

Eleanor Barham:
About when did you start getting the mail the house?  It would just be down in a box on the street wouldn't it?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
I hadn't got – Evergreen. 

Eleanor Barham:
About when was that?  Were you already married? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
I guess, this was '23, and that's when we put a box down there.  

Eleanor Barham:
When did you and papa move back to the Home Place? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
'23. 

Eleanor Barham:
In '23.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
And then you built the new house – 
Ethel Terry Barham:
In '27. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
in '27.  So you had those four years that you lived in the – 
Eleanor Barham:
Then Mr. Barham ran a dairy out where is Peter farm – he and his brothers ran a dairy out there. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Oh, Lord!  Don't bring that – 
Eleanor Barham:
No, but they need to know his background.  And he – 
Ray Ann Cramer:
So it was very natural for him to __ open up a dairy again. 

[0:49:58]

Eleanor Barham:
That's right, uh-huh.  Now I'm sure that's the reason why – 
Ethel Terry Barham:
And see, we were out in the country all the time.  Everything's wide open!  Drive our cattle across the dusty road to – woods a lot over there and pasture, I mean, if we wanted to. 
Eleanor Barham:
That's on Vollentine, she's talking about. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
That's all Vollentine mess. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Well, now, when would you say that it really started developing where it became more of a neighborhood instead of a farmland, so to speak?  You know, when did the change start?  Did it occur suddenly?  
Ethel Terry Barham:
I couldn't tell you when, but it must have been along about '28, they started developing from Jackson – I mean, from Watkins Avenue to Stonewall, I guess.  Then they came out and they finally took us in, in front of us, which we didn't own, and that was what the – 
Eleanor Barham:
I thought you said, though, that some of those houses that were built there between Jackson and Vollentine, up there on Willett and everything, that they started building some of those during the '20s – early '20s, like 1920-21 or '22?  

[0:51:11]

Ethel Terry Barham:
Well, they developed up in there, quite a time – 
Eleanor Barham:
But it's already build and then they offered Jackson first.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Oh, yes. 

Eleanor Barham:
And then they would move back toward Vollentine to develop.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
No, the way it would move out – they kept coming out. 

Eleanor Barham:
No, well I mean, though, they started at Watkins on Jackson and they were building and building, but then they started moving back from Jackson to Vollentine to build in there too, instead of just right on Jackson. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah.  Well, you see, we were handicapped so long without water and city conveniences.  We were out in the country, and when we'd go to town they'd say, "Here comes the country and the Terry girls in the country."  And half the time we'd have mud on our shoes.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
So you feel just because you didn't have city services that that's why it wasn't developed, and as soon as you got them – 
[0:52:03]

Ethel Terry Barham:
No, they say they wouldn't give it to you, so what you gonna do?  You just sit there. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Right.  But when the city finally did give them to you, then the area really started booming.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
And that was in the late '20s. 

Eleanor Barham:
Well, are you talking about, Grandma, that the city wouldn't give it to you on your side of the street?  How soon on the other side of the street did they have city services? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Well, see, Vollentine was the county line for years, and years, and years, and years!  

Eleanor Barham:
Well now, how soon did they get on the other side – not your side?  How soon on the Jackson side did they get – 
Ethel Terry Barham:
Well, now Ms. Clayton, and all of them, were developed over on ___, and let's see, we were in '23, they weren't developed then.  I guess they started about '25 over across the street from us. 
Eleanor Barham:
Well, did they have curb, gutter, and sidewalk? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm.  Subdivision put that as a requirement. 

[0:52:55]

Eleanor Barham:
Everything then – they had all of it. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Well, it was a crime if you build a subdivision, had to be it all.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Now who built that subdivision across the street? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
I couldn't tell you.  

Eleanor Barham:
You can look on the deed, though.  His name is Henry Clayton, and he was the original owner, so you could see who he purchased from.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
I don't know who he purchased from.  

Eleanor Barham:
It's on Dickenson.  What would that be?  Seven – what?  Well, it's listed as Henry Clayton, so you don't need anything more than that.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
All right, well so, that area was developed in the middle '20s, and then more areas were developed, would you say, during the '30s.  It started really building up around then? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
That builder was successful, well, here comes another builder. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Even during the depression, that area was building up? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
'32 – yeah, I think so. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
They were still building even during the depression? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Oh, it died down during the depression – everything, but we were delivering milk up there on Stonewall and all around in there. 
Ray Ann Cramer:
Did you deliver to individual customers?

[0:54:01]

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
You didn't sell in stores? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Unh-unh.  Just retail, strictly, except what came to the house, and that kept us busy.  We sold buttermilk for 15 cents a gallon during the depression.  Never will forget that!  Niggers would come from Klondike.  Now that's a subdivision – that one I – as long as I can remember, Klondike – little nigger subdivision.  I don't know much on my dates now about that.  She's the date women.  She can go way back in ___.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Now when you were delivering milk, you just had your customers and you were practically the neighborhood – 
Ethel Terry Barham:
The neighborhood. 

Eleanor Barham:
Mr. Barham and my husband, that's how he's – 
[0:55:01]

Ethel Terry Barham:
Twelve – thirteen-years-old. 

Eleanor Barham:
Was helping his daddy on the milk truck.  He delivered milk, and then later on, and then he got to be a big shot, he started delivering newspapers – The Commercial Appeal.  But he helped his daddy on the milk truck, and then they had to the colored people that lived there on the place. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Oh, you did have colored people that lived on the place? 
Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah, we had our help down there. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Where did their kids go to school? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Klondike. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
So they went off into Klondike. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
And where did your children go to school? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Vollentine. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Vollentine.  And then where'd they go to high school? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Well, they went to Snowden next, and then went to Central.  

Eleanor Barham:
And Tech. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
And Tech.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Okay, so all those schools came in a little bit later? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
No, those old schools were there – Snowden and Tech.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Well, now, was Snowden there when you were young? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah!  

Ray Ann Cramer:
But you didn't go – 
Ethel Terry Barham:
No, I __ when I was young – well, it was there when I was about – Suzy went there.  She was about 18, I guess.  But they were in the city. 

[0:56:05]

Eleanor Barham:
Well, Snowden wasn't a high school.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
No, it was a elementary.  

Eleanor Barham:
Oh!  

Ethel Terry Barham:
They leave the Terry School and go to Snowden.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
When did Terry School close?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
I think Suzy ___.  It must have closed about '10 or '12.  I don't know.  I know I left when I was in seventh grade, and I know is Prescott.  [Gap]

Eleanor Barham:
So Mrs. Terry that was taken – we do not have a wedding picture of them, and it is the regular thing of the man sitting and the lady standing.  And her name is Margaret Jean Beckett – Mrs. Terry, yes.  And it was when their fifth child, Newton Ernest, was born in 1883 that they had this photograph made.  
[0:57:05]


And at the time they also purchased a lovely set of bedroom furniture, with the marble top tables and so forth.  And that furniture was used until we sold the house, and when we moved here in the apartment we were afraid the large pieces, and everything, that it wouldn't fit here, and so we had to sell it.  But the table there is part of the original set, and it was purchased in 1883.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Walnut.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Made of solid walnut?

Eleanor Barham:
The church got started.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Do you think I remember back in the Bushard Days?  

Eleanor Barham:
Just tell us what you remember.  Did you say your father didn't start the Springdale Church? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Oh, no!  He was invited to come back up there because he was going to a brick church – Mr. Willis.  

[0:58:04]

Ray Ann Cramer:
The great church on Chelsey?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
They were talking to spread that ___ that church. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
On Chelsey? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
On Chelsey.  And Mr. Willis, of Springdale, a little Methodist Church out there, came down to see him and invited him to Springdale instead of the penitentiary, and so he came to Springdale, and we all grew up in Springdale.  Don't get me started on that. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Well now, what was Springdale?  Or Dale Springs, what was that? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
It was a spring down there on the side of the – in the subdivision down there – the spring, and they sold water out of it. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Now where was it, exactly, in relation to where everything is now? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Well, you don't even know where Cypress Circle is, do you?  You know where that Christian Church is, down there on the corner?  Well, it was in the property about halfway up, and it was good water – cold spring water.  

[0:59:04]

Ray Ann Cramer:
I wonder if it's still there?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
They had to bury it, I guess, to make it stop – I guess.  I don't how they – 
Ray Ann Cramer:
When would they have done that? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Oh, Lord, I don't know.  

Eleanor Barham:
When did they make that, you say it was a subdivision over there? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Well, they finally developed it so it would be – 
Eleanor Barham:
About when did they do that?  Because that's about when they'd have to close the spring.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
[Gap] lived on that property, and I couldn't know what to tell you when they developed that piece of property or nothing.  

Eleanor Barham:
Well, so was her nephew – the doctor – born by then? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
No. 

Eleanor Barham:
Oh, he's real young.  

Eleanor Barham:
You know, it cuts across there – Jackson's up here and the railroad track's going back down here.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Well, you turn to your left and go in – they had a big drive, and there's your spring, about half a block. 

[1:00:04]

Eleanor Barham:
And that's between the railroad track and Jackson? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
And it runs off into what they call "Lick Creek."  You know where Lick Creek – 
Ray Ann Cramer:
I know where Lick Creek is. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Well, it run into Lick Creek – the spring did.  

Eleanor Barham:
Who owned the spring?  Do you know whose land that was – where the spring was? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Unh-unh.  

Eleanor Barham:
You know, who lived on the place? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Unh-unh.  No, I ___.  I don't know, Ms. Ida Willis was up that, but – on the hill ____.  

Eleanor Barham:
Well, you think her family might have owned it?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
I don't know.  

Eleanor Barham:
Ms. Ida Willis was a schoolteacher at Terry Town.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Oh, wait!  Ms. Ida Willis was the first schoolteacher at Terry – 
Ethel Terry Barham:
No, she wasn't now.  

Eleanor Barham:
Oh, she wasn't? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
You got that thing on?  

Eleanor Barham:
Yeah – that – 
Ray Ann Cramer:
What was she? 

Eleanor Barham:
Ms. Brown was?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Ms. Suzy Brown was the first one – no, Ms. Suzy Brown was the first one.  Ms. Maddy Brown was the second one.  Ms. Ida Willis was the third one.  
[1:01:00]

Ray Ann Cramer:
[Gap] taught until her 70's in the school system, and they finally made her retire.  And where did she teach after Terry Town?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
She got on over to Prescott, and then she went to – when they built Messick, she went on out to Messick High School.  

Eleanor Barham:
Was she out there when you were? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm.  She was out there when I was. 

Eleanor Barham:
Did she retire from Messick? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
I guess she had to.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
[Gap] they bought then. 

Eleanor Barham:
Wait a minute now – wait a minute. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Williford and – wait a minute.  

Eleanor Barham:
I should have – it's signed "J.N. Payne," but it says it was assessed to Williford Susan Ann Payne.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Williford – we rented – I remember there was a strip where they put that subdivision behind us, that was the Williford property, and we rented that to the creek to get the creek for the cattle to drink water.  And we rented that from Ms. ___ Williford.  

[1:02:06]

Eleanor Barham:
Well, was that on the other side of Rose Bud Lane?  
Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah. 

Eleanor Barham:
The Williford place was on the other side of Rose Bud, and then you had to go past – down their property to get to the creek for the water.  
Ray Ann Cramer:
Now who put the creek in for you? 

Eleanor Barham:
Well, the creek was there.
Ethel Terry Barham:
Cypress Creek's been there ever since I've been there.  And it was a good wading pool, and the cattle drank water.  It was nice and clear those days and times, it was a regular little creek. 

Eleanor Barham:
Where my husband learned to swim. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah.  Cypress Creek.  

Eleanor Barham:
Let me go take – I'll take – 
Ray Ann Cramer:
The area was actually called Terry [gap].  
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[1:03:01]


Okay, you started to tell me about the special whistle that the Terry Town boys had.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah, they had a certain whistle, and you could go to Main Street anywhere and you hear that whistle and you'd know there was boy in town – I mean, out of the country there.  So they'd hunt each other up and have a good time together.  But the entertainment for my older sisters and brothers was that my father had a brother-in-law that played the violin (or the fiddle), and they'd give Saturday night dances.  And that went on for about four or five years, and the boys got up they – were they got to drinking, so my daddy cut it out, and they didn't have anymore Saturday night dances. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Where were the dances? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
At Ms. Vicory's.  And that's another tale.  

[1:03:57]

Ray Ann Cramer:
Well, now where is Ms. Vicory's?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Vicory bought a place up there at L&N Railroad, and Tresban.  No, it was Springdale and Tresban – I mean, the railroad – L&N Railroad, and he had a little dairy.  
Ray Ann Cramer:
Now who's Vicory was this?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Vicory was my father's sister's husband, and he ran a dairy up there. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
What was the name of his dairy? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
I don't know. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
But they had the dances? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah, he had dances.  They had a big house like ours – something on that order.  And then there was a Court behind them that had a great big dairy.  Now I don't know whether you run into any Courts or not.  
Ray Ann Cramer:
C-O-U-R-T? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Any first names? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Well, Will ran it – Will Court, and Johnny Court, and Lars Court ran it.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
And did that dairy have a special name? 

[1:04:58]

Ethel Terry Barham:
Well, I think it's just Court Brothers.  I'm not sure.  But cut it off.  I was trying to figure this out, and I can't do it. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Oh, well, the only other thing I wanted to ask was: In other words, there was a lot of socializing between your family members – 
Ethel Terry Barham:
Oh, yes!  

Ray Ann Cramer:
and people who had dairies – 
Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm – yeah!  It was just a community outfit.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
But was that all called Terry Town?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Did Terry Town kind of denote the dairy farmers of the area?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Oh, the dairymen's was scattered all over the country, because they could make a little cash money out of it.  No, it's just all over the country around us there.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
So that was just the way people – how else did people earn livings?  Did they farm?  

[1:05:58]

Ethel Terry Barham:
Farm.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
And then just the services like the stores? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um, stores – blacksmith's a nice job.  Then that harness shop, that was in there. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Where'd y'all go to the doctor? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
We had an old Dr. Winston, came to the house.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Dr. Weston?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Winston – W-I-N-S-T-O-N.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Did he live anywhere near you – 
Ethel Terry Barham:
No, he lived up there in the Greenlaw subdivision, up there about – over at church somewhere.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
So did you all ever go up to the Greenlaw section?  I mean, that was just another neighborhood you visited?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
That was another neighborhood. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
And you visited?  You were like out in the country and they were in town? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah.  See, all that side of Vollentine's country, and it stayed country until I was half-grown.  Cut it off __.  

[Gap] up on everything – dates, dates, dates!  I don't know if they – 
[1:06:57]

Ray Ann Cramer:
Well, at this point, I don't really care about dates, I would like to just know way of life, so to speak.  You know, when it wasn't country anymore, was there a big change in the way of life?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Now this is another thing.  We were back over here on Vollentine, and the store's up here on Jackson, where all the roads are, and we had a woods lots between us, and I remember many a times my mother needed lemons, and she needed sugar, anything like that, she would tell me to go to the store.  And there was a path through the store – I mean, this old woods lot, never fear a thing, we were just as free as anybody in the world.  I'd go over there and get what she wanted and I had an uncle – Uncle Jack – would always give me a couple pieces of candy, that was the bait that I wanted to go to the store for.  And he'd give me a couple pieces of candy, and I'd take my packages and go on back home.  
[1:08:00]

Ray Ann Cramer:
When did you notice the fear coming?  You know, you weren't worried then. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Oh, not until – no ____ until – I don't know when we started locking doors, but we would sleep out on porches and leave the doors and windows open, and I had a brother coming home, he'd call up and say, "Leave the latch out."  And I said, "It's already out."  And he's come in at 11:00, or 12:00, and go to bed.  We never thought anything about it.  Now we even hook the screen doors.  But I was married and over on Vollentine, wasn't any fear.  
Ray Ann Cramer:
When do you think people started being afraid? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
I don't even remember.  I can't tell you.  It wasn't too long ago, I'll tell the world that – 'cause I – 
[1:08:59]

Ray Ann Cramer:
Do you think maybe it was – 
Ethel Terry Barham:
was driving a car when I was – came over here, and Ellen was always fussing about me, "Lock your doors!  You don't lock your doors like you ought to."  And that was just a few years ago.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Think maybe in the '60s?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm, early '60s.  Now we're behind everything – locks, keys, and safety things, it's a mess.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
What do you think makes a good neighborhood? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
What we had.  My daddy built a school, he built a – no, he didn't build a church – store, and he had a – and that hard shelf, Mr. Ross had.  I don't know what he used.  I think it was strange, he'd run it through a tar ball – not tar – pitch, and he'd break off a piece and give it to us to chew.  
[1:10:02]

Ray Ann Cramer:
So, really, it was a good life.  Of course, life is so different now.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
And we had all the dogs and cats you wanted.  I have five dogs there when I was growing up.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Was church the center of life there? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Well, every time that door opened there, the Terry family, the Young family, the Willis family, and DeShazo's family there.  That's about all there – 
Ray Ann Cramer:
Who was the last family? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
The DeShazo.  No, Suzy DeShazo is living out here in back. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
How do you spell that last name?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
D-E-S-H-A-Z-O.  Don't you remember, there's a college of music up here on Linda, across from Central School.  She sold that, and I was rented a place way out on Deerwood, and she still teaches.  She's my same age – grew up together.  Suzy DeShazo.  
[1:11:05]

Ray Ann Cramer:
And all of you went to Springdale Methodist?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm.  [Gap] couple dead and gone. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Who?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
The Youngs. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Oh!  

Ethel Terry Barham:
And the Johnsons, they were old-timers.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
What did the Youngs do? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
I think he got into politics a little bit, maybe a squire or something.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
A county squire? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Something like – 
Ray Ann Cramer:
What was his first name? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Jim. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Jim Young? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
And what was the other family – Johnson? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Well, Ms. Young's mother and dad, and he was a preached, and I think he's the one that started Springdale Church.  Now they've got a history on Springdale Church.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
We've gotten that.  [Gap] I was just wondering, was that – 
[1:12:01]

Ethel Terry Barham:
It was a golf course. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
All right, the golf course – 
Ethel Terry Barham:
And he sold Johnny Goodwin, because he wouldn't sell to DeLuggage 'cause if he hired DeLuggage he thought he'd give him a dirty deal on that subdivision and all – McLean and Jackson.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Oh, he sold that property?  Oh, no, that was another subdivision, 'cause didn't Harry DeLuggage – 
Ethel Terry Barham:
Oh, he did a lot of these, he's all over town.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
No, but that University Circle, didn't he develop that? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
He bought some lots.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Yeah. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
He bought – 
Ray Ann Cramer:
But he didn't own any – a lot of property like? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
No, I don't say he owned property, but he was the developer.  I think he bought six lots down there in the cellar.  
Ray Ann Cramer:
So she sold to John Goodwin.  
[1:12:56]

Ethel Terry Barham:
He sold to John Goodwin after my daddy's death, to divide the property, which went to core – he had left a golf course, which was 40 acres to four of 'em.  And he sold it, and DeLuggage wanted it but he wouldn't sell it to him, but Johnny Goodwin he got – I guess DeLuggage got Johnny Goodwin to ___ to him.  So he sold it to Johnny Goodwin, and he turned right around and I think Herman good with that.  He's another builder, and I think he's the one that developed the golf course – Idlewild and Auburndale, and all up in there – McLean to Evergreen. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
All right, so – well, part of it went for the Synagogue.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Well, Gruber had his eye on that corner for a Synagogue.  So John let him have it. 
[1:13:59]

Ray Ann Cramer:
I see.  And then the rest of it was built into subdivisions.  Now who developed the subdivision, do you know?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
I think Gruber did. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Developed all those houses in there? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah.  I think he did.  
Ray Ann Cramer:
And Goodwin didn't do any developing?  He just bought it and then sold it? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Sold it.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
I see.  I see [gap].  What year was that?  Was that in the '50s?  
Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah, maybe so, about '58.  ___.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
'58?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
I don't know, somewhere in there.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
[Gap] clubhouse was – 
Ethel Terry Barham:
That's one of the old houses they left up there on the corner, which was already there, and they just turned it into a club. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Actually, one of the houses that James Terry – your grandfather – built.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
He did, um-hm.  Um-hm.  We had it on the market for 18 months, and this nigger's the only one who bought it.  
[1:15:07]

Ray Ann Cramer:
So it was in 1971 that you sold your home? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Can't believe it.  Um-hm.  ___.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
You had a hard time selling it?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
No, I was disgusted, because the colored was just moving in on us, no ___.  I had niggers behind me, niggers on  that side, and it was pitiful.  All up and down – 
Ray Ann Cramer:
When did they start moving in, do you remember?  Had it been long before that? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Oh, yeah, but they – about four or five years before that they begin to ease in.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
So it was in the late '60s? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm.  And I had an old nigger we called "Freta."  He trimmed shrub and then the yard, and he said that it wouldn't be many years before all the niggers would be up and down.  And they were, practically ___.  
[1:15:58]

Ray Ann Cramer:
I don't really know how the disbursement is, but there's still a lot of white people that live in this area. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Oh, they say there's about 80 percent colored in the school; there's still some white children over there.  But I don't see how they ____.  I'd hate to send any of my children to one of those public schools now.  They don't get anything.  
Carole Lowe:
Do you remember the school when they first started developing? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Yep.  

Carole Lowe:
How much were they?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
68 and 80--$8,000.  $68,000, about top of the price.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
$68,000?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
No, $6,800.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Hundred dollars, okay. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
$6,800 for houses – used one price.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
The ones your husband developed? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
$6,800?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
And we got $800 for a lot.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
$800 for a lot.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
If he sold a lot. 

[1:16:55]

Ray Ann Cramer:
What did you sell your house for in 1971, do you remember? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
We got a check and – well, we sold for [twenty-eight five] $28,500, I believe it was. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
$28,500, and it was on a whole acre? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
No, well, yeah, about an acre.  Everybody said it was an acre – two – it's two great big – 68 foot lots.  No, I believe that Home Place was bigger than that, with the lot joining us we kept for the drive, it wasn't 60 feet.  They say it's two acres.  
Ray Ann Cramer:
Two acres? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
No, a acre. 
Ray Ann Cramer:
One acre.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
And you cut the grass ___ a acre.  
Ray Ann Cramer:
That's right.  And you got $28,000 for it in 1971?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um-hm.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Wow!  

Ethel Terry Barham:
We were asking way over price for it, but we didn't get it, or we'd had a whole – sold it two or three years ahead when white folks would have been on it, we might have gotten what we wanted for it, but we – niggers moving in, and everybody knew, even across the street, niggers ___.  
[1:18:05]

Ray Ann Cramer:
[Gap] dying off and moving. 

Ethel Terry Barham:
And young folks didn't want to stay there, and they ___.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Do you see young people coming back? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
They are – they tell me buying these old homes, and fixing them up.  And next door neighbor to my son over here on Avalon, she sold her's and went out East – Ms. Hill – and they gave her $47,000 for that two-story house on Avalon.  And she paid $19,000 – I don't know what she paid for it.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
[Gap] not that you build on the 20 – did somebody design it?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Who designed it? 

[1:18:48]

Ethel Terry Barham:
McDaniel, he lived down there on Avalon, took me up ___.  We had him to come up and see if he could remodel the old Home Place, but he said it wasn't worth doing that, it's too old to ___.  And his was a funny house, and he the one who make my two great big rooms on the front and a hall.  Then there was a dog trot, and a porch, all the way across.  Then as you go out of the hall on the front part, there you had the dining room and the kitchen, and, of course, there was whole bedrooms upstairs.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Did it have a bathroom? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
No!  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Just a ___.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Yes.  We never did have a bathroom till we got the water.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
In the new house? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
In the new house. 

Ray Ann Cramer:
Well now, who built the house for you?  McDaniel designed it.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
He designed it, and a little fellow by the name of Whitset.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Whitset? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Um – ah-huh.   

Ray Ann Cramer:
Whitset built it.  Do you remember what it cost you? 

Ethel Terry Barham:
Yeah.  

[1:19:54]

Ray Ann Cramer:
What?  

Ethel Terry Barham:
$13,500, I believe.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
Plus you already had the land, so.  

Ethel Terry Barham:
Oh, yeah.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
[Gap] both of you enough.  This has been so helpful to us, and we will be glad to share our history with you when we get it together.  

Eleanor Barham:
[Gap] written down on a deed, on the sign-post, on the street, it's all spelled differently.  V-O-L-L-E-N-T-I-N-E.  V-O-L-L-I-N-T-I-N-E or T-E-N-E.  
Ray Ann Cramer:
Why? 

Eleanor Barham:
We don't know why.  Oh, I know why!  I know why, how on one deed or one marriage license, I had the marriage bond in 1800 of my grandfather, Peter Burns – B-U-R-N-S – on his marriage license his name is spelled three different ways by the same man who wrote it.  

Ray Ann Cramer:
They must have been taught by the same teacher I was.  

[End of Audio]
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